Evaluación de Riesgos Naturales - **América Latina** -Consultores en Riesgos y Desastres





Central America Probabilistic Risk Assessment Evaluación Probabilista de Riesgos en Centro América

BELIZE

TASK IV HAZARD, RISK MAPS AND RISK MANAGEMENT APPLICATIONS

TECHNICAL REPORT SUBTASK 4.2E BELIZE CITY HURRICANE RISK INSURANCE





Consortium conformed by:

Colombia

Carrera 19A # 84-14 Of 504 Edificio Torrenova Tel. 57-1-691-6113 Fax 57-1-691-6102 Bogotá, D.C.





España

Centro Internacional de Métodos Numéricos en Ingeniería - CIMNE Campus Nord UPC Tel. 34-93-401-64-96 Fax 34-93-401-10-48 Barcelona

México

Vito Alessio Robles No. 179 Col. Hacienda de Guadalupe Chimalistac C.P.01050 Delegación Álvaro Obregón Tel. 55-5-616-8161 Fax 55-5-616-8162 México, D.F.



CIMNE



ERN Evaluación de Riesgos Naturales – América Latina www.ern-la.com



Direction and Coordination of Technical Working Groups - Consortium ERN America Latina

Omar Darío Cardona A. Project General Direction

Luis Eduardo Yamín L. Technical Direction ERN (COL)

Technical Direction ERN (MEX)

Gabriel Andrés Bernal G. General Coordination ERN (COL)

Eduardo Reinoso A. General Coordination ERN (MEX)

Mario Gustavo Ordaz S.

Alex Horia Barbat B. Technical Direction CIMNE (ESP)

Martha Liliana Carreño T. General Coordination I CIMNE (ESP)

Specialists and Advisors – Working Groups

Julián Tristancho Specialist ERN (COL)

Miguel Genaro Mora C. Specialist ERN (COL)

César Augusto Velásquez V. Specialist ERN (COL)

> Karina Santamaría D. Specialist ERN (COL)

Mauricio Cardona O. Specialist ERN (COL)

Sergio Enrique Forero A. Specialist ERN (COL)

Mario Andrés Salgado G. Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Juan Pablo Forero A. Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Andrés Mauricio Torres C. Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Diana Marcela González C. Technical Assistant ERN (COL) Carlos Eduardo Avelar F. Specialist ERN (MEX)

> Benjamín Huerta G. Specialist ERN (MEX)

Mauro Pompeyo Niño L. Specialist ERN (MEX)

Isaías Martínez A. Technical Assistant ERN (MEX)

Edgar Osuna H. Technical Assistant ERN (MEX)

José Juan Hernández G. Technical Assistant ERN (MEX)

> Marco Torres Associated Advisor (MEX)

Johoner Venicio Correa C. Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Juan Miguel Galindo P. Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Yinsury Sodel Peña V. Technical Assistant ERN (COL) Mabel Cristina Marulanda F. Specialist CIMNE(SPN)

Jairo Andrés Valcárcel T. Specialist CIMNE(SPN)

Juan Pablo Londoño L. Specialist CIMNE(SPN)

René Salgueiro Specialist CIMNE(SPN)

Nieves Lantada Specialist CIMNE(SPN)

Álvaro Martín Moreno R. Associated Advisor (COL)

Mario Díaz-Granados O. Associated Advisor (COL)

Liliana Narvaez M. Associated Advisor (COL)

Juan Camilo Olaya Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Steven White Technical Assistant ERN (COL)

Romaldo Isaac Lewis Belize

Local Advisors

SNET Francisco Ernesto Durán & Giovanni Molina El Salvador Osmar E. Velasco Guatemala

Interamerican Development Bank

Flavio Bazán Sectorial Specialist

Tsuneki Hori Internal Consultant

World Bank

Francis Ghesquiere Regional Coordinator

Edward C. Anderson Specialist Cassandra T. Rogers Sectorial Specialist

Oscar Anil Ishizawa Internal Consultant

> Joaquín Toro Specialist

Stuart Gill

Specialist

Specialist

Sergio Lacambra Sectorial Specialist

Oscar Elvir Honduras

Fernando Ramírez C.



LIMITATIONS AND RESTRICTIONS

This application is illustrative, and has limitations and restrictions due to the level of resolution of available information. The final user should be aware of this, so that he will be able to make appropriate and consistent use of the results obtained, taking account of the type of analysis made, the type and quality of data used, the level of resolution and precision, and the interpretation made. Therefore, the following should be noted:

- Models used in the analysis contain simplifications and suppositions in order to facilitate the calculation which the user of which the user should be aware. They are described in detail in the related technical reports.
- The analyses have been developed with the best information available, within limitations of reliability and currency. It is possible that better and more complete information exists, but that we did not have access to it.
- The information used and the results of the analysis of hazards, exposure and risk are associated with a level of resolution, depending on the unit of analysis used, and this is explained in the descriptive document of the example.
- The use which the final user makes of the information does not in any way involve liability on the part of the authors of the study is made, who present this example as a something which could be feasible, if reliable information with appropriate degrees of precision were made available.
- It is the user's responsibility to understand the type of model used and its limitations, resolution and the quality of data, limitations and assumptions for analysis, and the interpretation made in order to give these results appropriate and consistent use.
- Neither those who developed the software nor those who promoted and financed the project, nor the contractors or subcontractors who took part in applications or examples of the use of the models, assume any liability for the use which the user gives to the results presented here, and therefore they are free of all liability for loss, damage, or effects which may be derived from the usual interpretation of these demonstrators examples.

Table of contents

1	Introduction 1	-1
2	Portfolio of buildings and parameters 2	2-1
2.1	Characterization of the analysis database	2-1
2.2	Characterization of insurable values and expected losses	2-2
2.3	Analysis groups for the insurance scheme	2-3
3	Results of risk by sectors	6-1
3.1	Complete portfolio	3-1
3.2	Lower socio-economical category	3-2
3.3	Medium socio-economical category	3-3
3.4	High socio-economical category	3-4
4	Estimation of premiums considering compensation 4	-1
4.]	Insurance with premium compensation	4-1
	4.1.1 Compensation by socio-economical category	4-1
	4.1.2 Compensation by limiting the exposed value	4-2
5	Conclusions	5-1
6	References	j-1

Index of figures

FIGURE 2-1 EXPOSED VALUES AND NUMBER OF BUILDINGS DISTRIBUTION BY USE	2-1
FIGURE 2-2 EXPOSED VALUE AND AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS DISTRIBUTION BY USE	2-2
Figure 2-3 Exposed value and average annual loss distribution by socio-economical	
CATEGORY	2-3
FIGURE 2-4 EXPOSED VALUE AND NUMBER OF BUILDINGS DISTRIBUTION BY SOCIO-ECONOMICAL CATH	EGORY
FOR THE GROUP OF RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS	2-4
Figure 2-5 Exposed value and average annual loss distribution by socio-economical	
CATEGORY FOR THE GROUP OF RESIDENTIAL BUILDINGS	2-4
FIGURE 3-1 VARIATION OF PML WITH THE RETURN PERIOD	3-1
Figure 3-2 Loss exceedance rate curve	3-1
FIGURE 3-3 LOSS EXCEEDANCE PROBABILITY FOR DIFFERENT EXPOSITION TIMEFRAMES	3-2
FIGURE 3-4 VARIATION OF PML WITH THE RETURN PERIOD	3-2
Figure 3-5 Loss exceedance rate curve	3-2
FIGURE 3-6 LOSS EXCEEDANCE PROBABILITY FOR DIFFERENT EXPOSITION TIMEFRAMES	3-3
FIGURE 3-7 VARIATION OF PML WITH THE RETURN PERIOD	3-4
FIGURE 3-8 LOSS EXCEEDANCE RATE CURVE	3-4
FIGURE 3-9 LOSS EXCEEDANCE PROBABILITY FOR DIFFERENT EXPOSITION TIMEFRAMES	3-4
FIGURE 3-10 VARIATION OF PML WITH THE RETURN PERIOD	3-5
FIGURE 3-11 LOSS EXCEEDANCE RATE CURVE	3-5
FIGURE 3-12 LOSS EXCEEDANCE PROBABILITY FOR DIFFERENT EXPOSITION TIMEFRAMES	3-5
FIGURE 4-1 EXPOSED VALUE AND AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS DISTRIBUTION BY GROUP AFTER CROSS	
INSURANCE SCHEME	4-2

Index of tables

TABLE 2-1 INFORMATION ON THE DATABASE	2-1
TABLE 2-2 SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL CHARACTERISTICS OF THE BUILDING'S DATABASE	2-2
TABLE 2-3 SUMMARY OF VALUES FOR THE ANALYSIS GROUPS 2	2-3
TABLE 3-1 AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS AND PROBABLE MAXIMUM LOSS	3-1
TABLE 3-2 AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS AND PROBABLE MAXIMUM LOSS FOR BUILDINGS IN LOW SOCIO-	
ECONOMICAL CATEGORY	3-2
TABLE 3-3 AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS AND PROBABLE MAXIMUM LOSS FOR BUILDINGS IN MEDIUM SOCIO-	
ECONOMICAL CATEGORY	3-3
TABLE 3-4 AVERAGE ANNUAL LOSS AND PROBABLE MAXIMUM LOSS FOR BUILDINGS IN HIGH SOCIO-	
ECONOMICAL CATEGORY	3-5
TABLE 4-1 LOSS COMPENSATION OR CROSSED INSURANCE RESULTS	4-1
TABLE 4-2 ANNUAL LOSSES COMPARED TO THE LIMIT EXPOSED VALUE (SUBSIDIZED)	4-2
TABLE 4-3 ANNUAL LOSSES COMPARED TO THE LIMIT EXPOSED VALUE (CONTRIBUTORS)	4-2

1 Introduction

In general terms, the cities in developing countries, in particular in Latin America and the Caribbean, are exposed to high risks associated with natural phenomena, in particular, earthquakes and hurricanes. For the case of occurrence of a phenomenon with disastrous characteristics, it is foreseeable that there will be a high level of economic loss associated with different groups of infrastructure and exposed infrastructure, such as private residential property, commercial property, industry and so on, the buildings of health and education sector both private and public, government buildings, infrastructure in public services and buildings for them, and in some cases other private and public buildings, through mechanisms of concession, and finally, the general infrastructure of government in municipalities, departments or counties and the country as a whole, such as roads, bridges, the electricity generation and distribution systems, water and gas supplies, hydrocarbons, ports, airports, and other complementary systems.

In order to minimize the financial impact which the event may generate with its catastrophic characteristics, there must first be a definition and implementation of a long-term financial strategy, to reduce known fiscal vulnerability of governments, and the level of the city or region, or indeed the whole country. The strategy includes a definition of a structure for retention and transfer of risk.

The retention of risk is usually covered by reserve funds, budget allocations or contingent loans which will allow financial resources required for emergency attention to be available at the instant of the occurrence of the catastrophic event, and for financing to be available to the retained part of the risk in the medium and long term.

This transfer is conducted generally by a scheme of insurance and reinsurance, and for this purpose the entire insurance sector must be involved, since the intention is to design a strategy for events with catastrophic characteristics. The cost of transferring the risk for the insured is the value of the premium, which in general should be proportional to the value of the annual expected loss of the asset insured. However, in practice, nominal values of premiums are used, attempting to average out values, such that with this figure there can be a cross subsidy of risk premiums between the wealthier strata, and those whose income does not allow for this type of expense, and which by that very circumstance, their risk would be transferred to the government entity in charge.

These considerations lead to the need to make studies which will give us a proper understanding of the financial risk to which each of the components of the city's – or region's or country's – infrastructure is exposed, and to develop the technical knowledge required to design a transfer structure with operative tools and instruments which will encourage users, and at the same time allow the central government to cover at least part of the contingent liability which is implicit in association with a possible disaster in the city.

The tools for systematization and modeling of catastrophic risk which leads to an estimation of the levels of damage and loss will also enable proposals to be made for a number of alternatives in the structure of retention and transfer, which will be feasible in accordance with the optimum conditions of cost for users, the realities of the insurance and reinsurance markets, and possible mechanisms for financial protection to be explored. These options would need to be proposed considering the legal restrictions in force, and possible changes that would favor an optimum process of insurance and adequate cover.

The final objective of this type of application consists on the design and proposal for mechanisms which are in accordance with the law and local regulations. This can be applied and negotiated with insurance companies so that there would be an optimum contract which will determine what amount each of the users retains, what excess of what limit of excess can be taken up by the insurance and reinsurance sectors, what the level of pure premiums would be; and how a series of cross subsidies could be proposed in order to finance the premiums of the poorest strata; and how a business could be structured from the point of view of an insurance or reinsurance business to be technically, operatively and financially viable. The value of the premiums depends on the size of the layers or excess loss limits, the value of deductibles specified, and other possible sources of protection such as contingent credit – if that is viable in terms of cost – or even capital market securities. The analysis of which mechanisms and why and for what value depends on legislation (both obligations of the public sector and of the insurance sector), and of the capacity of companies, cost of insurance, and what is considered to be appropriate and optimum from a financial point of view.

The assessment presented here considers the best available information with regard to buildings and their characteristics which form the database for the city. However, since the information supplied was not complete, estimates had to be made for a series of parameters for each of the assets exposed, using indirect indicators and information. The results should therefore be considered as indicative, considering that the information on the database could be significantly improved, and that since it is based on analysis and approximate correlations, in particular in relation to characteristics proper to each construction.

The results of the analysis presented here are based on the results of the analysis of risk for hurricane presented in the report ERN-CAPRA-T4-2a (Evaluation of the risk of disaster in Belize City, ERN 2010).

For the purposes of this report, we use the following definitions:

- Probable Maximum Loss
- Average Annual Loss

The PML is an estimate of the maximum loss which can be expected in a group of buildings. For this, a low annual probability of exceedance is selected, as being considered acceptable, and account is taken of the useful life of buildings, to calculate the losses for this value of probability. This defines the time period for the generating event (for example, 1500 years). In the analysis, all possible scenarios for hurricane are generated for

that return period (that is, with the same probability of occurrence), and the expected loss in buildings is calculated for each scenario.

The average annual loss is defined as the average expected loss that would be generated annually with a group of buildings and for each building. In order to determine this, the level of hazard to which the portfolio of buildings is exposed must be known, and the vulnerability of their structures.

2 Portfolio of buildings and parameters

2.1 Characterization of the analysis database

The database forming the portfolio for this analysis is composed of buildings. For each of these, basic reference information is based on correlations and typical characteristic values. All the information obtained is presented in detail in the report ERN-CAPRA-T4-2a. Table 2-1 presents a list of parameters required for the analysis.

Table 2-1					
Information on the database					
General Information	Construction Classification				
Socio-economical level Use or activity Occupation Exposed value Physical average annual loss	Area Number of stories Structural system				

Figure 2-1 presents the distribution of exposed value by use, and the approximate number of buildings associated with them.



Exposed values and number of buildings distribution by use

Table 2-2 summarizes the general characterization of the database used in the analysis.

Summ	ary of the princi	pal char	acteristics	of the build	ing's databa	ise	
	Coolo		Exposure	Occupation	Average annual loss Wind & storm surge		
llco	Socio-	No	value	Occupation			
Use	category	Buildings	[US\$ mill.]	[Hab]	[US\$ mill.]	[‰]	
	High	215	\$ 45.7	3,059	\$ 1.2	26.7	
Commercial	Medium	2,977	\$ 173.3	11,594	\$ 5.7	32.9	
	Low	200	\$ 5.1	340	\$ 0.2	30.5	
	High	22	\$ 7.1	336	\$ 0.2	35.0	
Industrial	Medium	409	\$ 50.6	2,403	\$ 1.4	28.6	
	Low	20	\$ 3.6	171	\$ 0.1	35.6	
Tratitutional	High	8	\$ 8.6	1,301	\$ 0.3	32.9	
Institutional	Medium	27	\$ 14.6	2,203	\$ 0.6	42.7	
	High	1,005	\$ 102.3	4,863	\$ 3.3	32.6	
Residential	Medium	6,405	\$ 196.0	19,689	\$ 6.4	32.6	
	Low	1,851	\$ 18.0	11,538	\$ 0.6	32.3	
Т	otal	13,139	\$ 624.9	57,498	\$ 20.1	32.2	

Table 2-2Summary of the principal characteristics of the building's database

In conclusion, the database is formed by around 13,000 buildings, with an insurable value of US\$ 625 million, with an occupation of around 57,500 people, and an average annual loss due to hurricane hazard of US\$ \$20 million, which is equal to 3.2% of the total exposed value.

2.2 Characterization of insurable values and expected losses

Figure 2-2 and Figure 2-3 present exposed values and average annual losses by type of use and socio-economic category.



Figure 2-2 Exposed value and average annual loss distribution by use



Figure 2-3

Exposed value and average annual loss distribution by socio-economical category

2.3 Analysis groups for the insurance scheme

Using the characterization of the database presented in the previous section, a segmentation of the target group for analysis was made for a compensation plan with cross premiums or cross insurance, which in this case has been taken as the group of residential buildings.

Table 2-3, Figure 2-4 and Figure 2-5 summarize the principal values for the three groups of selected for the analysis to establish compensation in premiums or cross insurance.

Summary of Values for the unalysis groups								
Socio- economical	No Buildings	Exposed value		Avera Wind a	ge annu nd stori	al loss n surge		
category	5-	[US\$ mill.]	[%]	[US\$ mill.]	[‰]	[US\$ x Bldg]		
High	1,005	\$ 102.3	32%	\$ 3.3	32.6‰	\$ 3,320		
Medium	6,405	\$ 196.0	62%	\$ 6.4	32.6‰	\$ 999		
Low	1,851	\$ 18.0	6%	\$ 0.6	32.3‰	\$ 314		
Total	9,261	\$ 316.3	100%	\$ 10.3	32.6‰	\$ 1,114		

Table 2-3Summary of values for the analysis groups



Figure 2-4

Exposed value and number of buildings distribution by socio-economical category for the group of residential buildings



Exposed value and average annual loss distribution by socio-economical category for the group of residential buildings

In Figure 2-4 we observe the differences in average annual losses for the three groups analyzed, and the largest losses regarding to the insured value are those for the group of buildings of the low socio-economic strata, with a value close to 3%.

3 Results of risk by sectors

In this section, the results of the risk analysis for hurricane are presented for the entire portfolio analyzed, and individually for each of the groups selected for analysis. The results of the analysis presented in terms of exposed value, average annual loss in monetary terms, and in relation to the exposed value, and probable maximum loss for different return periods.

All the analysis presented were calculated using the CAPRA-GIS (ERN 2009) system. This analysis allows technical criteria and possible scenarios to be generated for the design of better insurance alternatives.

3.1 **Complete portfolio**

The results of the analysis for the entire portfolio are presented in Table 3-1, and in Figures 3-1 to 3-3.

ruge annual loss and probable maximum							
Risk results							
Exposed value	US\$ mill.	316.33					
	US\$ mill.	10.31					
Average annual loss	‰	32.61‰					
PML							
Return period	Los	S					
VARM							
year	US\$ mill.	%					
50	US\$ mill. 77.00	% 24.34%					
50 100	US\$ mill. 77.00 92.43	% 24.34% 29.22%					
50 100 250	US\$ mill. 77.00 92.43 113.60	% 24.34% 29.22% 35.91%					

Table 3-1Average annual loss and probable maximum loss



Variation of PML with the return period

Loss exceedance rate curve



Figure 3-3 Loss exceedance probability for different exposition timeframes

3.2 Lower socio-economical category

The results of the analysis for the group of buildings in low socio-economical category are presented in Table 3-2, and in Figures 3-4 to 3-6.

 Table 3-2

 Average annual loss and probable maximum loss for buildings in low socio-economical

category					
Risk results					
Exposed value	US\$ mill.	17.99			
	US\$ mill.	0.58			
Average annual loss	% 32.25%				
PML					
Return period Loss					
Return period	Los	5S			
Return period year	Los US\$ mill.	ss %			
Return period year 50	Los US\$ mill. 4.38	% 24.35%			
Return period year 50 100	Los US\$ mill. 4.38 5.27	% 24.35% 29.30%			
Return period year 50 100 250	Los US\$ mill. 4.38 5.27 6.48	% 24.35% 29.30% 36.04%			





Figure 3-6 Loss exceedance probability for different exposition timeframes

The group of approximated buildings of low socio-economic level represents 20% of the total, and 6% of total exposed value. The premium is low, US\$0.6 million or 3.2% of their exposed value.

3.3 Medium socio-economical category

The results of the analysis for the group of buildings in medium socio-economical category are presented in Table 3-3, and in Figures 3-7 to 3-9.

Table 3-3Average annual loss and probable maximum loss for buildings in medium socio-
economical category

<u> </u>					
Risk results					
Exposed value	US\$ mill.	196.03			
	US\$ mill.	6.40			
Average annual loss	‰	32.64‰			
PML					
Return period Loss					
year	US\$ mill.	%			
50	47.95	24.46%			
100	57.49	29.33%			
250	70.58	36.01%			
500	78.51	40.05%			



Figure 3-7 Variation of PML with the return period

Figure 3-8 Loss exceedance rate curve



Figure 3-9 Loss exceedance probability for different exposition timeframes

The group of approximated buildings of medium socio-economic level represents a 69% of the total, and 62% of total exposed value. The premium for hurricane hazard corresponds to some US\$6.4 million or 3.3% of their exposed value.

3.4 High socio-economical category

The results of the analysis for the group of buildings in high socio-economical category are presented in Table 3-4, and in Figures 3-10 to 3-12.

 Table 3-4

 Average annual loss and probable maximum loss for buildings in high socio-economical

category					
Risk results					
Exposed value	US\$ mill. 102				
	US\$ mill.	3.34			
Average annual loss	‰	32.61‰			
PML					
Return period Loss					
Return period	Los	5S			
Return period year	Los US\$ mill.	ss %			
Return period year 50	Los US\$ mill. 25.03	% 24.47%			
Return period year 50 100	Los US\$ mill. 25.03 30.04	% 24.47% 29.36%			
Return period year 50 100 250	Los US\$ mill. 25.03 30.04 36.86	% 24.47% 29.36% 36.03%			



Figure 3-10 Variation of PML with the return period

Figure 3-11 Loss exceedance rate curve



Figure 3-12 Loss exceedance probability for different exposition timeframes

The group of approximated buildings of the highest socioeconomic strata represents 11% of the total number and 32% of insured value. The premium for hurricane hazard is about US\$3.3 million (3.3 % of the exposed value).

4 Estimation of premiums considering compensation

The analysis of separate portfolios, conducted and mentioned above, allows to make estimates of the value of premiums (average annual loss), for the average of each of them, and to explore the possibility that one group or fraction of that group, such as those of the highest socio-economic strata, should cover the cost of insurance of the buildings owned by the less wealthy, for example, the low socio-economical strata. This means that there will be a compensation of premiums between high and low socio-economic levels.

In the determination of buildings which qualify for subsidy, priority must be given to low social economic strata. Regarding to that, consideration must also be given to the fact that the value of the premium for this group of buildings is about US\$ 0.6 million, while the buildings which make contributions towards that a compensation or subsidy, is around US\$ 9.7 million.

For this example of the analysis of cross-insurance, the scenario taken is one in which the contributors are all of the middle and high-strata owners, and would be practically a scheme of mandatory insurance for these socioeconomic strata.

4.1 **Insurance with premium compensation**

4.1.1 Compensation by socio-economical category

For the scenario proposed for insurance with compensation, in which those subsidized correspond to about 1,850 buildings of a low socio-economical category, the shortfall would be US\$ 0.6 million to cover US\$ 18 million of exposure.

And if the rest remaining of the buildings are to make contributions, there are some 7,400 in the middle and higher socioeconomic strata, and the total amount of premiums to be paid by those contributors would be US\$10.3 million with which the premium for the medium level socio-economical groups would be an increase from 3.26% to 3.52%, and for the high-level income socio-economical group, from 3.26% to 3.34%.

Socio-	No Ruilding	Exposure	value	Aver Wind	age annua and storm	al loss n surge	Cross Wind a	average nd storn	e loss 1 surge
l category	s	[US\$ mill.]	[%]	[US\$ mill.]	[‰]	[US\$ x Bldg]	[US\$]	[‰]	[US\$ x Bldg]
Low	1,851	\$ 18.0	6%	\$ 0.6	32.3‰	\$ 314	\$ 0.0	0.0‰	\$ 0
Medium	6,405	\$ 196.0	62%	\$ 6.4	32.6‰	\$ 999	\$ 6.9	35.2‰	\$ 1,077
High	1,005	\$ 102.3	32%	\$ 3.3	32.6‰	\$ 3,320	\$ 3.4	33.4‰	\$ 3,398
Total	9,261	\$ 316.33	100%	\$ 10.3	32.6‰	\$ 1,114	\$ 10.31	32.6‰	\$ 1,114

 Table 4-1

 Loss compensation or crossed insurance results



Figure 4-1



4.1.2 *Compensation by limiting the exposed value*

It is possible to propose an insurance scheme with the compensation factor, from the point of view of exposed value, in which the subsidized group would be composed of buildings with an exposure value of less than a given limit. In this example, this value limit has been placed at US\$17,500, which corresponds to most of the buildings in the low socioeconomic strata buildings.

Annual losses compared to the limit exposed value (subsidized								
No. of buildings		Evneged	value	Average Ar	nnual Loss			
		Exposed value		Wind and storm surge				
[Und] [%] [l		[US\$ million]	[% total]	[US\$ million]	[% total]			
3,268 35.3% \$ 32.00		\$ 32.00	10.1%	\$ 1.05	10.2%			
			AAL [‰]	\$ 32	.83			
			US\$ x Bldg	\$ 32	1.53			

Table 4-2

Table 4-3

A	1	1	1 -	11	1:		1	/ 	- \
Annual	IOSSES	comnarea	то	тпр	11 <i>m</i> 1T	exnosea	าวสานค	CONTRIBUTORS	.,
1 1101000000	100000	00111011011	~~	0,00	~~~~~~	0.000000	C CCCCCC .		1

		E			Average Annual Loss		
NO. OF D	ullaings	Exposed	value		Wind and storm surge		
[Und]	[%]	[US\$ million]	[% tot	al]	[US\$ million]	[% total]	
5,993	64.7%	\$ 284.33	89	.9%	\$ 9.26	89.8%	
			32.58‰				
	Cross	average loss [U	ion]	\$ 10.31			
		Cros	36.28‰				

5 Conclusions

The analysis offers the following preliminary conclusions, which may serve as the basis for proposing strategy for future considerations of optimum mechanisms of retention and transfer of risks:

- (a) The complete portfolio of buildings, according to inferred information, consists of some 13,000 buildings, with an insurable value of about US\$ 625 million, and an annual expected loss in the case of hurricane winds and storm surge of US\$ 20 million, equal to 3.2% of the exposed value.
- (b) A first scheme of global insurance would indicate that the pure premium for hurricane risk for the entire portfolio would be of the order of 33 per thousand, corresponding to some US\$10 million, the probable maximum loss for 500 years of the return period estimated for this portfolio is around US\$126 million, corresponding to 40% of the exposed value, and in this case, would need catastrophic reinsurance, if the local insurance companies do not wish to retain significant percentages of the risk.
- (c) For a scheme such as that indicated, and considering the difficulties of proposing a scheme of mandatory insurance, it may be expected that there will be a low participation on the part of low socio-economic strata owners. In similar experiences and cases, overall values of participation have been of the order of 10%. Therefore, the scheme, although feasible for implementation in the medium term, does not guarantee the protection of low socioeconomic strata housing, and therefore the city should still consider this contingent loss to be valid, in the case of the catastrophic event.
- (d) An alternative scheme of insurance consists of producing a compensation of premiums between the wealthier and the poorer strata. In order to compensate all the premiums of 35% of the buildings with the lowest exposed values, corresponding to buildings with an exposed value of less than US\$17,500, the average premium for the remaining buildings will increase on average from 32.5 to 34.6 per thousand. This value may vary drastically, if different levels of participation are considered.
- (e) The foregoing analysis allows concluding that the possibility of a scheme of insurance will depend on the reinsurance capacity of local insurance companies, and it will be necessary to enter into direct negotiations with the reinsurance companies, and to analyze the viability of the proposal. The possibility of establishing compensations for premiums of the lower-value buildings is clear, given the low values of pure premiums resulting in general for this group of buildings. If we consider that the schemes are voluntary, it might be proposed that a scheme of coverage for a higher limit in the lower-value houses could be established as a

function of the percentage of properties which enter the scheme of insurance proposed.

(f) Also, and as a new general program for insurance, it will be necessary to propose a series of incentives for individuals to decide to support the program, including reduced tax payments, special exceptions, extra time to pay, amnesties, works of intervention for retrofittment of housing, and other measures which generate clear incentives to taxpayers.

- Evaluación de Riesgos Naturales ERN América Latina. Evaluación del Riesgo de Desastre en Ciudad de Belice. Informe ERN-CAPRA-T4.2A. http://www.ecapra.org. 2010.
- ERN-Colombia. Definición de la Responsabilidad del Estado, su Exposición ante Desastres Naturales y Diseño de Mecanismos para la Cobertura de los Riesgos Residuales del Estado, Departamento Nacional de Planeación (DNP), Agencia Colombiana Cooperación Internacional (ACCI) y el Banco Mundial, Bogotá, 2005
- ERN-Manizales. Diseño de Esquemas de Transferencia de Riesgo para la Protección Financiera de Edificaciones Públicas y Privadas en Manizales en el Caso de Desastres por Eventos Naturales, DNP, ACCI y el Banco Mundial, Bogotá, 2005
- ERN-Colombia. Diseño de la Estrategia de Aseguramiento, Para la Protección Financiera de las Edificaciones Privadas Establecidas en la Ciudad De Bogotá D.C, en el Caso de la Ocurrencia de un Desastre Natural, Secretaría Distrital de Hacienda, Bogotá 2005.